1990

Lon S. Nield, Patricia L. Nield, November Investors,
V. Mark Peterson and Nancy L. Peterson v. BJ Rone,
Ronald A. Bieber, Rab Ranch, James Gregg : Brief
of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDING

This appeal is from a final summary judgment of the court pursuant to Rule 54(b) Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in favor of Plaintiffs (Appellees) and adverse to Defendants.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review:

- 1) Is the question of true identity a genuine material fact precluding summary judgment?
- 2) How does true identity bear upon principles of service of process jurisdiction, judgment against all defendants, attachment of real property judicial liens, execution and sale, bona fide purchaser, and res judicata?
- 3) What is fair and complete adjudication of an issue requiring issue preclusion under the principle of res judicata?
- 4) What effect does new evidence have pertaining to the principle of res judicata?

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES RULES AND REGULATIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION ARE DETERMINATIVE

The following statutes and rules whose interpretation are required in determining the issues presented are:

UCA 1953 Section 78-22-1(1)

UCA 1953 Section 25-1-15(2) before amendment

UCA 1953 Section 25-1-13 before amendment

UCA 1953 Section 25-6-9(1)

UCA 1953 Section 57-3-2, as amended

UCA 1953 Section 57-3-3, as amended

Rule 10, URCP
Rule 17d, URCP
Rule 54b, URCP
Rule 56, URCP
Rule 58A, URCP

Said statutes and rules are set forth verbatim in the appendix hereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

CASE NATURE, COURSE AND LOWER COURT DISPOSITION

This is a case of TRUE IDENTITY. It involves the use of labels (identity camouflauge, fictitious names, pseudonymns, assumed names) in business and real estate title transactions and how true identity of the individuals using those business labels affects the application of other legal principles which impact the rights and responsibilities of other citizens who in one way or another came into contact with one or more of the labeled businesses.

The Vreeken Family composed of father Fred, mother Marilyn, and sons Kurt, Keith and Chris [Kris] [hereinafter called "**JUDGMENT DEBTORS**"] set up an articulate and elaborate white collar investment scheme penetrating all of the 50 United States and some foreign nations in the late 1970's and early 1980's. They first operated in California and then moved their base of operation to the obscure small rural town of Lehi, Utah in the last part of the 1970's. They adopted and used over 20 fictitious business names which they used to conduct various

factoring, commodity futures, options, supposed tax shelter limited partnerships and other investment schemes. New fictitious business names used by them are still being uncovered today. (See partial list recited on page 13.) They also purchased numerous parcels of real estate in Utah and elsewhere using some of their fictitious business names but never purchased any real property in their personal individual names.

The family sent out letters to their numerous investors in early 1983 indicating the board of directors of each particular investment entity had determined to liquidate and enclosed a token check of a very small part of each investor's invested funds. Some of these investors were lucky enough to quickly file suit and obtain judgments in Utah County, Utah in the names of some of these fictitious business names.

Rone, Bieber (who runs his own ranch in South Dakota called "RAB Ranch"), and Gregg [hereinafter called "**JUDGMENT CREDITORS**"] were three of those investors. Since their judgments in 1983, they have been trying to satisfy their respective judgments.

US Federal Tax Evasion cases were filed against Fred and Kurt Vreeken which eventually resulted in guilty verdicts on certain counts. USA v Fred & Kurt Vreeken, CR 84-48, Utah District. Fred and Kurt Vreeken served one year in federal prisons and halfway houses as conditions of probation and brought back over \$900,000.00 from overseas into the US and deposited said funds with the US Utah District Court to be used

partial restitution of investors and other creditors. The fund is still being held by a US Federal Court receiver pending distribution determination by the federal court. But the US Internal Revenue Service has levied upon said fund claiming first priority to all of them.

In an effort to recover part or all of the remaining balances of their judgments, the Judgment Creditors executed upon two parcels of property in Lehi, Utah County, Utah and three parcels of property in Alpine, Utah County, Utah in which the Vreeken Family had had fee title ownership through their fictitious business names at the time the Judgment Creditors obtained their separate judgments.

Property owners of two of the three parcels located in Alpine, Utah objected to the executions and filed this action as plaintiffs [hereinafter called "**OWNERS**"] in the Fourth Judicial Court, Utah County, honorable Boyd L. Park presiding, to enjoin the levy and sale of their respective parcels of property. The Sheriff of Utah County who levied upon the two parcels of Alpine property was named as the first defendant [hereinafter called "**SHERIFF**"] and the Judgment Creditors were named as further defendants.

After submission of affidavits and other evidence, the trial court granted the Owners summary judgment against the Sheriff and Judgment Creditors regarding the Owners' right to a permanent injunction precluding further execution by the Sheriff and Judgment Creditors on the Owners' two parcels of

property in Alpine, Utah.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED

In September 1987, Defendants Rone, Bieber dba RAB Ranch, and Gregg, as Judgment Creditors, executed upon 3 parcels of real property in Alpine, Utah County, Utah to satisfy 3 separate outstanding judgments claimed to attach as judgment liens upon said Alpine parcels. [R1811-1815] Defendant Bateman, as Utah County Sheriff, levied upon the Alpine parcels in his capacity as sheriff. [R1804-1810] The 3 judgments had been entered in Utah County in 1983 against numerous fictitious business names and Chris [Kris] and Keith Vreeken as individuals in 2 of the 3 separate cases (Judgment Debtors), namely:

MONEY FACTORS SYNDICATE, AG; FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE, AG; AIRES + SERV, SA; INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT CONFERENCE; and OPTION WRITERS SYNDICATE on July 26, 1983 in favor of Judgment Creditor B. J. Rone [R1094]

CHRIS [KRIS] VREEKEN; KEITH VREEKEN; MONEY FACTORS SYNDICATE; FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE, AG; AIRES + SERV, SA; INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT CONFERENCE; AND OPTION WRITERS SYNDICATE on August 25, 1983, 11:19 A.M., in favor of Judgment Creditor James A. Gregg [R1723]; and

CHRIS VREEKEN; KEITH VREEKEN; MONEY FACTORS SYNDICATE; FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE, AG; AIRES + SERV, SA; INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT CONFERENCE; and OPTION WRITERS SYNDICATE on August 25, 1983, 11:20 A.M., in favor of Judgment Creditor Ronald A. Bieber and RAB Ranch [R1667]

Owners had acquired record title to 1 of the Alpine parcels in 1984 from a title holder labeled Red Deer Investments and Red Deer Investments, SA. [R314] Red Deer

Investments and Red Deer Investments, SA were two of the business names used by Judgment Debtors. [R490, 501-503] Another creditor of the Judgment Debtors, D. & M. Coal Company, also claimed rights to a 1984 recorded Trust Deed on one of the Alpine parcels, allegedly nonjudicially foreclosed its TD and D. & M.'s interest was purchased by some of the Owners in 1986. [R333, 342, 346] Because of their acquired record title pertaining to 2 of the Alpine parcels, Owners commenced this separate suit to enjoin the Judgment Creditors from selling their 2 of the three parcels of Alpine property. Owners alleged no liens of the Judgment Creditors attached to the 2 Alpine parcels due to 1) invalid judgments, 2) no final judgments, 3) no judgment debtors' interest in the Alpine properties, and 4) bona fide purchaser status of Owners. [R1]

Judgment Creditors produced Rule 56 evidence which creates a disputed fact regarding Judgment Debtors true identity showing that Judgment Debtors Fred Vreeken, Kurt Vreeken, Keith Vreeken, and Kris [Chris] Vreeken were using various pertinent and material business names as camouflauge, pseudonymous, fictitious, and assumed names with no separate legal identity status. [R470-569]

Judgment Creditors also showed that many of the fictitious business names listed in the judgment pleadings are tied to said Judgment Debtors. [R1094, 1723, 1667; First Federal Finance - R488,509-515; International Investment Conference - R535, 562; Aries + Serv, SA - R561] Judgment Creditors argued

that determination of true identity of judgment debtors in the 3 contested judgments must be determined in this case as a precedent finding of fact before the legal principles argued by Owners can be applied and that there are material facts left to be decided regarding true identity, alter ego, and dealing with officers and directors of de facto corporations when the injured parties have no knowledge the business they deal with claims to be a corporation. [R571-576]

Judgment Creditors also supplied Rule 56 evidence showing Kris [Chris] Vreeken--and not only Keith Vreeken--was served with process on behalf of judgment debtors in the separate Judgment Creditor Bieber and Judgment Creditor Greqq judgments [R1653-1656, 1658-1663, 1657-1662, 1709-1710, 1712-1715, 1718, 1711, 1719] and that Fred and Kurt Vreeken made general appearances through filing an answer in the Rone case. [R1078]

Owners moved for summary judgment and after oral argument, summary judgment was granted. The trial judge ruled there were questions regarding title to the property but no material facts left for decision. [R623] Owners asked for final judgment on certain issues pursuant to URCP Rule 54(b) without opposition from Judgment Creditors so that the important question of true identity could be quickly decided on appeal in this case. [R625, 626] Judgment Creditors dispute the judge's ruling and summary judgment, believing there are genuine material facts left to be decided and that Owners are

not entitled to judgment as a matter of law regarding a permanent injunction precluding levy and sale of their Alpine parcels by the Judgment Creditors.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT 1: There is evidence in the record creating a genuine material fact that the Vreeken Family [Judgment Debtors] and their camouflauge labels (fictitious business names, pseudonymns, assumed names) are one and the same. This coexistent TRUE IDENTITY makes all of the assets of Judgment Debtors, whether held in fictitious names or otherwise, subject to Judgment Creditors' judgment liens.

POINT 2: The doctrine of TRUE IDENTITY is a precedent finding of fact required before the application of any other legal principles, states or rules of court. Interests in real property exist regardless of whether a certain name is listed in the judgment forming basis for the judgment lien if the fictitious business names and Vreeken Family are really one and the same. Recorded notices of federal tax liens and judgment liens create a genuine question of bona fide purchaser status. The genuine question of fact regarding full and fair hearing and newly discovered evidence is presented regarding the issue of service of process. Also, Kris Vreeken was served in the Bieber and Gregg cases of Judgment Creditors--not just Keith Vreeken.

POINT 3: Even if there were de facto separate legal entities set up using any of the Judgment Debtors' adopted fictitious business names, there are genuine questions of fact

remaining regarding fraudulent conveyance, alter ego and piercing of corporate veils, and failing to give proper notice to Judgment Creditors that they were in fact dealing with a corporation or corporations.

POINT 4: The Judgment Creditors' judgment liens attached to real property in counties in the State of Utah from the time they were docketed in each county regardless of whether **Rule 54b URCP** application for a declaration from the trial court that there was no reason for delay was requested or granted. Judgment liens are the minimum right Judgment Creditors must be granted--even more so than prejudgment writ applicants--when they have gone to the point in due process entitling them to a judgment on their claims.

POINT 5: The Owners presented defective affidavits containing only conclusory statements regarding lack of requisite knowledge to support their defense of bona fide purchaser status. Also, copies of court records the court may take judicial notice of were inappropriate submissions of evidence. Both the improper affidavits and the inappropriate copies of court records should be stricken from the case.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1: A PERSON IS RESPONSIBLE FOR HIS ACTIONS NO MATTER WHAT LABELS HE USES

The all encompassing and pervasive principle of TRUE IDENTITY governing this case and the legal principles and rules applicable to the parties has been precedent in Utah since 1925 when the Supreme Court of Utah in **State v. Tinnin**, 232 P 543, 545 (Utah 1925) adopted this universal rule:

There is no question in law, either as to a contract entered into by a person under an assumed or fictitious name being valid. THE LAW LOOKS TO THE IDENTITY OF THE INDIVIDUAL, AND WHEN THIS IS ESTABLISHED THE ACT IS BINDING UPON HIM AND OTHERS, IRRESPECTIVE OF THE NAME HE HAS ASSUMED.

This principle is well substantiated by case law throughout the United States. **See 57 AJ2d Names Section 62.**

Moreover, individuals who do business as sole proprietors under one or several names remain one person and, as such, are personally liable for all their obligations. **Thomas v Colvin**, 592 P2d 982 (Okla. App. 1979)

Most important in considering this case, naming a sole proprietor defendant under his trade name is the same as naming the defendant individually. **National Surety Co. v Oklahoma Presbyterian College for Girls**, 132 P 652 (Okla. 1912), reaffirmed in **Colvin**, supra and **Duval v Midwest Auto City, Inc.**,

435 F. Supp. 1381 (D. Neb. 1977) and **Southern Ins. Co. v Consumer Ins. Agency, Inc.**, 442 F. Supp 30 (E. D. La. 1977)

In **Duval**, supra, the court held:

The designation "dba" means "doing business as" but is merely descriptive of the person or corporation who does business under some other name. Doing business under another name does not create an entity distinct from the person operating the business. The individual who does business as a sole proprietor under one or several names remains one person, personally liable for all his obligations.

Some state courts have altered or improved the common law rule in **Tinnin**, supra, by certain provisions regarding personal identity through their civil procedure rules. Our Utah State has partially done this by providing in **Rule 17d, URCP**, that two or more persons associated in business - either as a joint-stock company, a partnership or other association, not incorporated - who transact business under "a common name", whether it comprises the names of the associated persons or not, may be sued by such "common name" and any judgment obtained against the defendant in such case "shall bind the joint property of all the associates" in the same manner as if all had been personally named defendants and had been sued upon their joint liability.

Some states have even specifically indicated suits may be brought even though true identity is not known. This honorable Supreme Court of Utah has so indicated in current **Rule 10a, URCP** by stating, "A party whose name is not known shall be designated by any name and the words 'whose true name is

unknown.'"

A great dramatist Shakespeare said it in laymen's language: A rose is a rose no matter what other name you call it.

It is material in this action whether or not the Vreeken Family or any of their members, ie., Fred, Marilyn, Kurt, Keith and/or Kris [Chris] Vreeken are in fact one and the same as the labels they adopted and used in the conduct of their businesses for if they were, under the principles of **Tinnin and Rule 17d, URCP** in Utah, no matter what they called themselves and no matter whether they mistakenly thought their business entity names were separate and distinct legal entities in the eyes of the law, they are the ultimate people liable and property held in any of the labels they used is subject to execution to satisfy any of the liabilities obtained by judgments in the name of any of the Vreeken Family's fictitious business names unless the property was purchased by a bona fide purchaser as said bona fide purchaser is defined by the law of the State of Utah.

Only a small part of the criminal trial transcript of Fred and Kurt Vreeken in US Utah District Court was introduced into evidence in support of Judgment Creditor's display of disputed genuine material facts. And that is all that was necessary because summary judgment is not a full hearing on the merits. In summary judgment, one need only one competent sworn statement under oath to dispute the averments on the other side of the controversy and create an issue of fact. **Hardy v**

Prudential Insurance Co., 763 P2d 761 (Utah 1988) But there certainly was sufficient evidence put into the record to show there are genuine material facts left to be decided.

Bank accounts were controlled by Kurt and Fred Vreeken. [R476-477] Fred, his wife Marilyn A., son Kurt and son Keith were on ARIES CONSULTING USA LTD. checking account signature cards for example. [R494-495, 497] Kurt concocted and created numerous names, many of them even personal names, fictions, people who did not even exist [R542-16 to 11 reverse side], which he used as pseudonyms for himself and to conduct business. [R515-556] He then would make all of the decisions regarding "business" transactions between these names [R553-554 as examples], pull out the appropriate rubber stamp which he kept in a drawer at his Lehi office, and plunk the stamp where signatures were needed. [R515-556, 480, 484, 536] They became known as his little squiggles. [R489] Indeed, his own signature is undecipherable unless you had personal knowledge of his signature.

Kurt was acting like a Captain Kirk maneuvering a giant monopoly game. However, he was using real money from real people. There was no arms length dealing whatsoever. He was most of the show. He even said in his own words, "This whole thing, like I said, was a fictional thing. It was an academic exercise. I wasn't working. I wasn't employed anywhere. I was just -- it was an academic exercise similar to what I'd done in school." [521-9]

Money used to buy the two parcels of property in Alpine, Utah in the name of RED DEER INVESTMENTS, which parcels Owners are trying to keep in this law suit, was taken from the FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE account at Deseret Bank in Lehi, Utah. [R552(back side)] FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE is one of the names against whom judgment was obtained by all 3 Judgment Creditors. [R1094, 1723, 1667] The connection is there and the liability of Owners property to satisfy the judgments of Judgment Debtors is there.

Some of the numerous fictitious names used by the Judgment Debtors were:

TESCHEN ENTERPRISES [R478]
SAAR AKKA ABESHR, LTD. [482-483]
E'TRANGER COMPAGNIE [R486-420
FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE [R488]
RAM-TECH [R490]
RED DEER INVESTMENTS [R490, 501-503]
ARIES CONSULTING USA LTD. [R494]
K. R. VREEKEN ENTERPRISES [R496]
ARIES CONSULTING CORP. [R504]
QUASAR INTERNATIONAL LTD. [R513- 519(back side)]
INTERNATIONAL LEGAL SERVICES, LTD [R520]
CHERKESSK ENTERPRISES [R522(back side)]
CM SYSTEMS [R524]
TESCHEN FINANCIAL INTERNATIONAL [R524]
AUDENTES FORTUNA JUVAT [R530]
KOVAN AMBERGETS [R531]
QUESSO RESEARCH INSTITUTE, LTD. [R531]
FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT CONFERENCE [R535]
INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT CONFERENCE [R535]
FIRST INTERNATIONAL BANK OF GIBRALTER [R534]
GYROSYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL [R536]
GODWIN-AUSTEN CO. LTD. [R536(back side)]
TECH STAR, LTD. [R537]

Some personal names concocted and used were:

SAMMY GNEI [R537]
ESKO TRUEHAND [R539]
RALLO NYBERG [R542]

THOMAS DEAVER [542]
RALPH PEEL [R542(reverse)]
KEVIN DALLY [R542(reverse)],

just to give a representative sample.

Kurt Vreeken borrowed money from and Marilyn Vreeken got money from SAAR AKKA ABESHR, LTD. [R483] Kurt Vreeken signed for E'TRANGER. [R486] FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE obtained all of its money through the Vreekens and that money was transferred back and forth. [R487, 508-515]

Kurt purchased a house [R501-503 in Alpine in the RED DEER INVESTMENTS name, Kurt purchased another home at 362 West 900 North, Lehi, Utah in the K. R. VREEKEN ENTERPRISES name. [R503] They also purchased a building lot at Silver Fork [R503], QUASAR INTERNATIONAL bought a \$12,500.00 Datsun for Marilyn A. Vreeken [R513-518], \$85,000.00 was used from the FIRST FEDERAL FINANCE bank account to pay off a home in Cove Point, Salt Lake County, Utah lived in by Fred Vreeken. [R513-523] An Audi 5000, Datsun King Cab and even a boat were also purchased from investor money and used by the Vreekens. [R515-516, 553]

Kurt made decisions to move money from one bank account to another [R526] and got a taxicab driver to sign documents when he visited the Turks and Caicos Islands. [R528]

IF all of the above evidence, which is only a small portion of the criminal proceedings against Kurt and Fred Vreeken, does not raise sufficient questions to place the question of true identity in the category of an undecided

genuine material fact, then our system of justice is gravely lacking.

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