1990

William R. Kelley, Jr. v. Leucadia Financial Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kelley's failure to waive the title defects and any claim for property damage resulted in termination of the Agreement pursuant to its own terms. Further, an unconditional tender of performance by Kelley was a prerequisite to this action for specific performance. Kelley's tender of performance was conditional on First Security providing a remedy not required by the Agreement and, therefore, Kelley was precluded from maintaining this action. Moreover, Kelley failed to make

an adequate tender prior to the expiration of the Agreement. Accordingly, the decision of the Utah Court of Appeals that the Agreement terminated was correct as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

I. KELLEY'S REFUSAL TO WAIVE CLAIMS REGARDING TITLE DEFECTS AND PROPERTY DAMAGE CAUSED THE AGREEMENT TO TERMINATE BY ITS OWN TERMS.

The Agreement provides the options available to Kelley in the event of title defects or property damage due to vandalism. As to title defects, the Agreement provides that if a defect is not curable through an escrow agreement at closing, Kelley could either (i) waive the defect and proceed to closing, or (ii) refuse to waive the defect, and have his earnest money deposit returned and the Agreement terminated. (R. 15; Appendix 2, ¶¶G and H)² In the event of property damage caused by vandalism, the Agreement provides that Kelley may (1) proceed to closing if First Security agrees to repair or replace the damaged property, or (2) declare the Agreement null and void if

² Unlike Paragraph H of the Agreement, Paragraph G does not specifically state that the buyer must waive any title defects as a condition to proceeding with the transaction. However, that condition is implicit in Paragraph G. Otherwise, the last sentence of Paragraph G has no meaning or purpose. Also, such interpretation is supported by the express provision of Paragraph H, which states specifically that if title defects are not curable through an escrow agreement, the buyer must waive the defects to proceed with the transaction.

First Security does not agree to repair or replace the damaged property. (R.17; Appendix 2, ¶P) If First Security refuses to repair or replace damaged property, then Kelley could proceed with the closing only if he waived any claims for such damage.³

First Security by its letter of September 4, 1987 (Appendix 3) offered Kelley his options under the Agreement, which were either to waive the title defects and close the transaction or, alternatively, to permit the Agreement to terminate and receive a refund of his deposit. First Security did not agree in its letter to repair the damaged property. In his response by letter dated September 22, 1987 (Appendix 5), Kelley refused these options and demanded, as a condition to closing, that First Security resolve the boundary dispute and the water rights problem and repair or replace the property damage caused by vandalism. (R.61) Kelley's response to First Security's letter was clearly and unequivocally a refusal to waive the title defects. As a result, the Agreement terminated by its own terms under Paragraphs G and H. Furthermore, since First Security did not agree to repair or replace the damaged

³ Paragraph P does not clearly state the remedy available to a purchaser in the event the seller refuses to repair or replace property damage caused by vandalism. However, the only reasonable interpretation of the Paragraph is that the Agreement terminates unless the purchaser waives property damage claims. Otherwise, there is no need or purpose for the language in the Paragraph concerning the agreement of the seller to repair or replace.

property, and Kelley did not waive any claim for such damage, the Agreement also terminated under Paragraph P.

Notwithstanding his September 22 letter, Kelley argues that he did not intend to terminate the Agreement and that he would have waived the title defects (and presumably any claim for property damage) if he was required to do so. (Kelley's Brief, p. 35 n.9) The issue, however, is not whether Kelley intended to terminate the Agreement. The issue under Paragraphs G, H and P of the Agreement is whether Kelley waived the title defects and claims for property damage.⁴ In his September 22 letter Kelley not only refused to waive the defects, but insisted that First Security cure the problems. Since Kelley refused to waive the defects, the Agreement terminated automatically, regardless of his unexpressed intent. See Reno v. Beckett, 555 F.2d 757, 767 (10th Cir. 1977).⁵

⁴ Paragraph H specifically provides that in the event of title defects, the Agreement will automatically terminate by its own terms, unless Kelley waives the defects.

⁵ In addition, Kelley seems to argue that even if the September 22 letter could be construed as a failure to waive title defects and claims for property damage, he was subsequently willing to do so. After September 22, it was too late for Kelley to alter his position because the Agreement had terminated. See the discussion concerning the time of the essence provision of the Agreement at Argument IV, commencing infra at 30.

A clause in a land sales contract providing for cancellation of the contract in the event of a title defect is not an uncommon provision. Professor Powell notes:

One of the issues that may arise in an action for specific performance of a contract to sell an interest in land is the marketability of the landowner's title. Some contracts avoid or at least minimize the likelihood of litigation or of the vendor's liability by providing that if the title proves unmarketable, the agreement is canceled and a refund of the deposit is to be made to the purchaser.

6A R. Powell, The Law of Real Property ¶ 925[2][b], 84-24 & 25 (1990). Such provisions are binding and are enforceable by the seller, at least in the absence of fault or bad faith by the vendor. Lanna v. Greene, 175 Conn. 453, 399 A.2d 837, 840-841 (1978); Scerbo v. Robinson, 63 App. Div. 2d 1096, 406 NYS2d 370, 371 (1978); Robison v. Compton, 97 Idaho 615, 549 P.2d 274, 276 (1976); Sawl v. Kwiatkowski, 349 Mass. 712, 212 N.E.2d 228 (1965); De Propriis v. Smith, 342 Mich. 457, 70 N.W.2d 712, 713 (1955).⁶

It is argued, primarily in the amicus curiae briefs, that Leucadia's interpretation of Paragraphs G and H of the Agreement eliminates the recognized right of a purchaser to seek

⁶ In Sawl, the court defined "fault" to mean conduct by the seller subsequent to the purchase agreement and tending to impair the seller's title. 212 N.E.2d at 230. Also see, Trabucco v. Nelson, 8 Mass. App. 641, 396 N.E.2d 466, 468 (1979).

specific performance, with an abatement of the purchase price, in the event of title defects. In both briefs the case of Castagno v. Church, 552 P.2d 1282 (Utah 1976), is cited for the proposition that the purchaser has such a right. However, the Castagno court recognized that this remedy can be contractually modified. The court stated:

At the time of the execution of the contract, [sellers] knew there was no existing water right to the well. They undertook the duty to procure such a right, but they made no provision in the contract to excuse them, if the state engineer did not grant their change application to divert a water right to the well.

552 P.2d at 1284. Contrary to the contention of the amicus parties, the Castagno court recognized that any right of specific performance with abatement can be contractually modified.⁷

The issue of the effect of contractual provisions on the remedy of specific performance was addressed in Lanna v. Greene, 175 Conn. 453, 399 A.2d 837 (1978). In that case, a purchaser brought an action against the seller seeking, among other things, specific performance of a real estate contract and

⁷ In the amicus curiae briefs, the cases of Eliason v. Watts, 615 P.2d 427 (Utah 1980), Tanner v. Baadsgaard, 612 P.2d 345 (Utah 1980), Reed v. Alvey, 610 P.2d 1374 (Utah 1980), and Huck v. Hayes, 560 P.2d 1124 (Utah 1977) are also cited for the notion that a purchaser can specifically enforce an agreement. Those cases are not instructive. The Court did not address in those cases the effect of contractual remedies on the right to specific performance or abatement of the purchase price.

damages for breach. The agreement provided that if the sellers were unable to deliver marketable title, the purchaser could elect either to accept the title subject to encumbrances with no reduction in the purchase price, or to reject title and recover its deposit. 399 A.2d at 839. The court first noted that generally, in the event of unmarketable title, a purchaser may elect to have the contract specifically performed to the extent of the seller's ability, with an abatement in the purchase price. Id. at 840. The court then stated:

It is also fundamental, however, that vendor and vendee may contract to limit their remedies for breach.

Id. The court concluded that the contractual remedy of waiver or refund was exclusive and intended for the benefit of both parties, and that the purchasers were precluded from any other relief, including abatement.

In Robison v. Compton, 97 Idaho 615, 549 P.2d 274 (1976), the court held that remedy provisions concerning title defects similar to those in this case are binding. In holding that the purchasers were not entitled to specific performance and an abatement of the price, the court stated:

The Earnest Money Agreement also contains the following provision: "The earnest money deposited herein shall be refunded to Buyer and this Agreement voided . . . if merchantable title cannot be delivered within a reasonable time." By including this clause in their Agreement, the parties have agreed as to what the remedy will be in

case of the failure or inability of the vendor to provide merchantable title. Such a stipulation is binding, at least in the absence of bad faith, and will foreclose an action for a different remedy.

549 P.2d at 276. See also Sawl v. Kwiatkowski, 349 Mass. 712, 212 N.E.2d 228 (1965).⁸

It is also argued by the amicus parties that if Leucadia's interpretation of Paragraphs G and H is correct, a seller could avoid a sales contract by simply encumbering title. This argument illustrates the distinction between encumbrances on title that can be cleared through escrow and defects in title so fundamental they cannot be cleared by the payment of money into escrow. If, as suggested by the amicus parties, the seller encumbered title such as by incurring a lien on the property, such an encumbrance could be cured through escrow and hence would not relieve the seller of his obligations under Paragraphs G and H of the sales contract. Moreover, the termination provision found in those paragraphs would not be available to a seller acting in bad faith or who is at fault. In Trabucco v.

⁸ The Utah Association of Realtors cites Ace Realty, Inc. v. Looney, 531 P.2d 1377 (Okla. 1974) for the argument that the contractual remedies contained in the Agreement were for the benefit of the purchaser, who could waive those provisions and, therefore, still seek specific performance. Id. at 1380. Such conclusion by the Ace court, if indeed it was its conclusion, was reached without discussion or citation to other authority. This conclusion is obviously contrary to the holdings in Lanna v. Greene, Scerbo v. Robinson, Robison v. Compton, De Propriis v. Smith, and Sawl v. Kwiatkowski, supra text at p. 14.

Nelson, 8 Mass. App. 641, 396 N.E.2d 466 (1979), referring to a clause in a land sales contract that provided for termination in the event the seller is unable to convey good title, the court stated:

The clause, therefore, does not protect a seller who is not acting in good faith and who does not intend to carry out the agreement. (citation omitted).

Id. at 468. Also see, Lanna v. Greene, 399 A.2d 837, 841 (Conn. 1978); Sawl v. Kwiatkowski, 349 Mass. 712, 212 N.E.2d 228, 230 (1965).

The amicus curiae argue that the interpretation of Paragraphs G and H of the Agreement by Leucadia effectively eliminate the provisions of Paragraph N of the Agreement.⁹ Paragraph N is a general remedy clause, and does not address specifically the remedies available in the event of defects in title. It is fundamental that contractual provisions addressing a specific issue control and preclude application of a general

⁹ Paragraph N provides in part:

In the event of default by Buyer, Seller may elect to either retain the earnest money as liquidated damages or to institute suit to enforce any rights of Seller. In the event of default by Seller, or if this sale fails to close because of the nonsatisfaction of any express condition or contingency to which the sale is subject pursuant to this Agreement (other than by virtue of any default by Buyer), the earnest money deposit shall be returned to Buyer.

contractual provision. Norman v. Recreation Centers of Sun City, Inc., 156 Ariz. 425, 752 P.2d 514, 517 (Ariz. App. 1988). Accordingly, the provisions of Paragraph N would apply only to situations not specifically addressed by Paragraphs G and H.

II. KELLEY'S FAILURE TO MAKE AN UNCONDITIONAL TENDER OF PERFORMANCE PRECLUDES SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

A. An Unconditional Tender Is Required As A Condition Precedent To A Decree Of Specific Performance.

On several occasions, the Utah Supreme Court has held that a complete and unconditional tender is a prerequisite to an action for specific performance. In Baxter v. Camelot Properties, Inc., 622 P.2d 808 (Utah 1981), for example, a purchaser brought an action for specific performance of a purchase agreement involving two condominium units entered into between the parties in May, 1977. The terms of the initial purchase agreement were that the buyer was to make a cash down payment of 10 percent and to obtain a mortgage loan for the remaining 90 percent. 622 P.2d 809. The date of the closing was left open. In October, 1978, the seller requested that the purchaser complete the purchase within the next ten days by depositing the 10 percent down payment and making application for the 90 percent loan. Plaintiff did not comply with this letter, but proposed several alternative offers, none of which was accepted by the defendant. Id.

Thereafter, the plaintiff made two "tenders of performance." In January, 1979, the plaintiff tendered the 10 percent down payment but did not state whether she had made application for the loan for the additional 90 percent; defendant did not respond to this tender. Id. In February, 1979, plaintiff tendered more money for the two units and required seller to carry a contract for 90 percent of the sales price; defendant did not respond to this tender. 622 P.2d 810. Thereafter, plaintiff brought an action for specific performance of the original agreement. The Court held that the plaintiff did not tender the performance required by the terms of the agreement and, accordingly, specific performance was denied. 622 P.2d at 811.

The following year, the Utah Supreme Court explained why a conditional tender, that is one not in conformance with the terms of the agreement, is inadequate as a matter of law for purposes of bringing an action to compel performance:

[With respect to] a contract . . . which contemplates simultaneous performance by both parties, such as the Earnest Money agreement involved in this case, neither party can be said to be in default (and thus susceptible to a judgment for damages or a decree for specific performance) until the other party has tendered his own performance In other words, the party who desires to use legal process to exercise his legal remedies under such a contract must make a tender of his own agreed performance in order to put the other party in default. . . . To qualify under

this rule, a tender, such as an offer to pay money, must be complete and unconditional.

Century 21 All Western Real Estate & Inv., Inc. v. Webb, 645 P.2d 52, 56 (Utah 1982) (citations omitted; emphasis added). See also Zion's Properties, Inc. v. Holt, 538 P.2d 1319 (Utah 1975) (a tender requires that there be a bona fide, unconditional, offer of payment of the amount of money due, coupled with an actual production of the money or its equivalent); Fischer v. Johnson, 525 P.2d 45 (Utah 1974) (to claim specific performance, a party must either perform or tender performance in accordance with the covenants in the contract.)

- B. Kelley's Tender Was Not Unconditional And He Is Therefore Precluded From A Decree Of Specific Performance.

In this case, Kelley's "tender" was not in accordance with the terms of the Agreement, because it was conditioned on First Security undertaking obligations that were not required by the Agreement. The Agreement clearly provided the options available in the event the title to the property was unmarketable: Where the defects in title were not curable through an escrow agreement at closing (e.g., paying money to release liens or other encumbrances), the purchaser could either waive the defects and close the sale, or his earnest money deposit would be returned and the Agreement declared null and void. (R.15; Appendix 2, ¶¶G and H) Similarly, the options

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